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Introduction

In Search of the Great Society

The research behind this book was not originally intended to reveal
anything about Freemasonry or the Knights Templar. Its objective had been
to satisfy my own curiosity about certain unexplained aspects of the
Peasants’ Revolt in England in 1381, a savage uprising that saw upwards of
a hundred thousand Englishmen march on London. They moved in
uncontrolled rage, burning down manor houses, breaking open prisons, and
cutting down any who stood in their way.

One unsolved mystery of that revolt was the organization behind it. For
several years a group of disgruntled priests of the lower clergy had traveled
the towns, preaching against the riches and corruption of the church. During
the months before the uprising, secret meetings had been held throughout
central England by men weaving a network of communication. After the
revolt was put down, rebel leaders confessed to being agents of a Great
Society, said to be based in London. So very little is known of that alleged
organization that several scholars have solved the mystery simply by
deciding that no such secret society ever existed.

Another mystery was the concentrated and especially vicious attacks on the
religious order of the Knights Hospitaller of St. John, now known as the
Knights of Malta. Not only did the rebels seek out their properties for



vandalism and fire, but their prior was dragged from the Tower of London
to have his head struck off and placed on London Bridge, to the delight of
the cheering mob.

There was no question that the ferocity unleashed on the -crusading
Hospitallers had a purpose behind it. One captured rebel leader, when asked
the reasons for the revolt, said, “First, and above all...the destruction of the
Hospitallers.” What kind of secret society could have had that special hatred
as one of its primary purposes?

A desire for vengeance against the Hospitallers was easy to identify in the
rival crusading order of the Knights of the Temple of Solomon in
Jerusalem. The problem was that those Knights Templar had been
completely suppressed almost seventy years before the Peasants’ Revolt,
following several years during which the Templars had been imprisoned,
tortured, and burned at the stake. After issuing the decree that put an end
to the Templar order, Pope Clement V had directed that all of the extensive
properties of the Templars should be given to the Hospitallers. Could a
Templar desire for revenge actually have survived underground for three
generations?

There was no incontrovertible proof, yet the only evidence suggests the
existence of just one secret society in fourteenth-century England, the
society that was, or would become, the order of Free and Accepted Masons.
There appeared to be no connection, however, between the revolt and
Freemasonry, except for the name or title of its leader. He occupied the
center stage of English history for just eight days and nothing is known of
him except that he was the supreme commander of the rebellion. He was
called Walter the Tyler, and it seemed at first to be mere coincidence that
he bore the title of the enforcement officer of the Masonic lodge. In
Freemasonry the Tyler, who must be a Master Mason, is the sentry, the
sergeant-at-arms, and the officer who screens the credentials of visitors who
seek entrance to the lodge. In remembrance of an earlier, more dangerous
time, his post is just outside the door of the lodge room, where he stands
with a drawn sword in his hand.

I was aware that there had been many attempts in the past to link the
Freemasons with the Knights Templar, but never with success. The fragile



evidence advanced by proponents of that connection had never held up,
sometimes because it was based on wild speculation, and at least once
because it had been based on a deliberate forgery. But despite the failures
to establish that link, it just will not go away, and the time-shrouded belief
in some relationship between the two orders remains as one of the more
durable legends of Freemasonry. That is entirely appropriate, because all of
the various theories of the origins of Freemasonry are legendary. Not one of
them is supported by any universally accepted evidence. I was not about to
travel down that time-worn trail, and decided to concentrate my efforts on
digging deeper into the history of the Knights Templar, to see if there was
any link between the suppressed Knights and the secret society behind the
Peasants’ Revolt. In doing so, I thought that I would be Ileaving
Freemasonry far behind. I couldn't have been more mistaken.

Like anyone curious about medieval history, I had developed an interest in
the Crusades, and perhaps more than just an interest. Those holy wars hold
an appeal that is frequently as romantic as it is historical, and in my travels
I had tried to drink in the atmosphere of the narrow defiles in the
mountains of Lebanon through which Crusader armies had passed, and had
sat staring at the castle ruins around Sidon and Tyre, trying to hear the
clashing sounds of attack and defense. I had marveled at the walls of
Constantinople and had strolled the Arsenal of Venice, where Crusader fleets
were assembled. I had sat in the round church of the Knights Templar in
London, trying to imagine the ceremony of its consecration by the Patriarch
of Jerusalem in 1185, more than three hundred years before Columbus set
sail west to the Indies.

The Templar order was founded in Jerusalem in 1118, in the aftermath of
the First Crusade. Its name came from the location of its first headquarters
on the site of the ancient Temple of Solomon. Helping to fill a desperate
need for a standing army in the Holy Land, the Knights of the Temple
soon grew in numbers, in wealth, and in political power. They also grew in
arrogance, and their Grand Master de Ridfort was a key figure in the
mistakes that led to the fall of Jerusalem in 1187. The Latin Christians
managed to hold onto a narrow strip of territory along the coast, where the
Templars were among the largest owners of the land and fortifications.



Finally, the enthusiasm for sending men and money to the Holy Land
waned among the European kingdoms, which were preoccupied with their
wars against each other. By 1296 the Egyptian sultan was able to push the
resident Crusaders, along with the military orders, into the sea. The Holy
Land was lost, and the defeated Knights Templar moved their base to the
island kingdom of Cyprus, dreaming of yet one more Crusade to restore
their past glory.

As the Templars planned a new Crusade against the infidel, King Philip IV
of France was planning his own private crusade against the Templars. He
longed to be rid of his massive debts to the Templar order, which had used
its wealth to establish a major banking operation. Philip wanted the Templar
treasure to finance his continental wars against Edward I of England.

After two decades of fighting England on one side and the Holy Roman
Church on the other, two unrelated events gave Philip of France the
opportunity he needed. Edward 1 died, and his deplorably weak son took
the throne of England as Edward II. On the other front, Philip was able to
get his own man on the Throne of Peter as Pope Clement V.

When word arrived on Cyprus that the new pope would mount a Crusade,
the Knights Templar thought that their time of restoration to glory was at
hand. Summoned to France, their aging grand master, Jacques de Molay,
went armed with elaborate plans for the rescue of Jerusalem. In Paris, he
was humored and honored until the fatal day. At dawn on Friday, the
thirteenth of October, 1307, every Templar in France was arrested and put
in chains on Philip's orders. Their hideous torture for confessions of heresy
began immediately.

When the pope’s orders to arrest the Templars arrived at the English court,
young Edward II took no action at all. He protested to the pontiff that the
Templars were innocent. Only after the pope issued a formal bull was the
English king forced to act. In January, 1308, Edward finally issued orders
for the arrest of the Knights Templar in England, but the three months of
warning had been put to good use. Many of the Templars had gone
underground, while some of those arrested managed to escape. Their
treasure, their jeweled reliquaries, even the bulk of their records, had
disappeared. In Scotland, the papal order was not even published. Under



those conditions England, and especially Scotland, became targeted havens
for fugitive Templars from continental Europe, and the efficiency of their
concealment spoke to some assistance from outside, or from each other.

The English throne passed from Edward II to Edward III, who bequeathed
the crown to his ten-year-old grandson who, as Richard II, watched from
the Tower as the Peasants’ Revolt exploded throughout the City of London.

Much had happened to the English people along the way. Incessant wars
had drained most of the king's treasury and corruption had taken the rest. A
third of the population had perished in the Black Death, and famine exacted
further tolls. The reduced labor force of farmers and craftsmen found that
they could earn more for their labor, but their increased income came at the
expense of land-owning barons and bishops, who were not prepared to
tolerate such a state of affairs. Laws were passed to reduce wages and
prices to preplague levels, and genealogies were searched to reimpose the
bondage of serfdom and villeinage on men who thought themselves free.
The king’s need for money to fight his French wars inspired new and
ingenious taxes. The oppression was coming from all sides, and the pot of
rebellion was brought to the boil.

Religion didn't help, either. The landowning church was as merciless a
master as the landowning nobility. Religion would have been a source of
confusion for the fugitive Templars as well. They were a religious body of
warrior monks who owed allegiance to no man on earth except the Holy
Father. When their pope turned on them, chained them, beat them, he broke
their link with God. In fourteenth-century Europe there was no pathway to
God except through the vicar of Christ on earth. If the pope rejected the
Templars and the Templars rejected the pope, they had to find a new way
to worship their God, at a time when any variation from the teachings of
the established church was blasted as heresy.

That dilemma called to mind the central tenet of Freemasonry, which
requires only that a man believe in a Supreme Being, with no requirements
as to how he worships the deity of his choice. In Catholic Britain such a
belief would have been a crime, but it would have accommodated the
fugitive Templars who had been cut off from the universal church. In
consideration of the extreme punishment for heresy, such an independent



belief also made sense of one of the more mysterious of Freemasonry's Old
Charges, the ancient rules that still govern the conduct of the fraternity. The
Charge says that no Mason should reveal the secrets of a brother that may
deprive him of his life and property.

That connection caused me to take a different look at the Masonic Old
Charges. They took on new direction and meaning when viewed as a set of
instructions for a secret society created to assist and protect fraternal
brothers on the run and in hiding from the church. That characterization
made no sense in the context of a medieval guild of stonemasons, the usual
claim for the roots of Freemasonry. It did make a great deal of sense,
however, for men such as the fugitive Templars, whose very lives depended
upon their concealment. Nor would there have been any problem in finding
new recruits over the years ahead: There were to be plenty of protestors
and dissidents against the church among future generations. The rebels of
the Peasants’ Revolt proved that when they attacked abbeys and monasteries,
and when they cut the head off the Archbishop of Canterbury, the leading
Catholic prelate in England.

The fugitive Templars would have needed a code such as the Old Charges
of Masonry, but the working stonemasons clearly did not. It had become
obvious that I needed to know more about the Ancient Order of Free and
Accepted Masons. The extent of the Masonic material available at large
public libraries surprised me, as did the fact that it was housed in the
department of education and religion. Not content with just what was
generally available to the public, I asked to use the library in the Masonic
Temple in Cincinnati, Ohio. I told the gentleman there that I was not a
Freemason, but wanted to use the library as part of my research for a book
that would probably include a new examination of the Masonic order. His
only question to me was, “Will it be fair?” I assured him that I had no
desire or intention to be anything other than fair, to which he replied,
“Good enough.” 1 was left alone with the catalog and the hundreds of
Masonic books that lined the walls. I also took advantage of the
publications of the Masonic Service Association at Silver Spring, Maryland.

Later, as my growing knowledge of Masonry enabled me to sustain a
conversation on the subject, I began to talk to Freemasons. At first I



wondered how I would go about meeting fifteen or twenty Masons and, if I
could meet them, would they be willing to talk to me? The first problem
was solved as soon as I started asking friends and associates if they were
Masons. There were four in one group I had known for about five years,
and many more among men I had known for twenty years and more,
without ever realizing that they had any connection with Freemasonry. As
for the second part of my concern, I found them quite willing to talk, not
about the ‘“secret” passwords and hand grips (by then, I already knew
them), but about what they had been taught concerning the origins of
Freemasonry and its ancient Old Charges.

They were as intrigued as I was about the possibilities of discovering the
lost meanings of words, symbols, and ritual for which no logical
explanation was available, such as why a Master Mason is told in his
initiation rites that “this degree will make you a brother to pirates and
corsairs.” We agreed that unlocking the secrets of those Masonic mysteries
would contribute most to unearthing the past, because the loss of their true
meanings had caused the ancient terms and symbols to be preserved intact,
less subject to change over the centuries, or by adaptations to new
conditions.

Among those lost secrets were the meanings of words used in the Masonic
rituals, words like tyler, cowan, due-guard, and Juwes. Masonic writers have
struggled for centuries, without success, to make those words fit with their
preconceived conviction that Masonry was born in the English-speaking
guilds of medieval stonemasons.

Now I would test the possibility that there was indeed a connection
between Freemasonry and the French-speaking Templar order, by looking for
the lost meanings of those terms, not in English, but in medieval French.
The answers began to flow, and soon a sensible meaning for every one of
the mysterious Masonic terms was established in the French language. It
even provided the first credible meaning for the name of Hiram Abiff, the
murdered architect of the Temple of Solomon, who is the central figure of
Masonic ritual. The examination established something else as well. It is
well known that in 1362 the English courts officially changed the language
used for court proceedings from French to English, so the French roots of



all the mysterious terms of Freemasonry confirmed the existence of that
secret society in the fourteenth century, the century of the Templar
suppression and the Peasants’ Revolt.

With that encouragement I addressed other lost secrets of Masonry: the
circle and mosaic pavement on the lodge room floor, gloves and lambskin
aprons, the symbol of the compass and the square, even the mysterious
legend of the murder of Hiram Abiff. The Rule, customs, and traditions of
the Templars provided answers to all of those mysteries. Next came a
deeper analysis of the Old Charges of ancient Masonry that define a secret
society of mutual protection. What the “lodge” was doing was assisting
brothers in hiding from the wrath of church and state, providing them with
money, vouching for them with the authorities, even providing the “lodging”
that gave Freemasonry the unique term for its chapters and their meeting
rooms. There remained no reasonable doubt in my mind that the original
concept of the secret society that came to call itself Freemasonry had been
born as a society of mutual protection among fugitive Templars and their
associates in Britain, men who had gone underground to escape the
imprisonment and torture that had been ordered for them by Pope Clement
V. Their antagonism toward the Church was rendered more powerful by its
total secrecy. The suppression of the Templar order appeared to be one of
the biggest mistakes the Holy See ever made.

In return, Freemasonry has been the target of more angry papal bulls and
encyclicals than any other secular organization in Christian history. Those
condemnations began just a few years after Masonry revealed itself in 1717
and grew in intensity, culminating in the bull Humanum Genus, promulgated
by Pope Leo XIII in 1884. In it, the Masons are accused of espousing
religious freedom, the separation of church and state, the education of
children by laymen, and the extraordinary crime of believing that people
have the right to make their own laws and to elect their own government,
“according to the new principles of liberty.” Such concepts are identified,
along with the Masons, as part of the kingdom of Satan. The document not
only defines the concerns of the Catholic Church about Freemasonry at that
time, but, in the negative, so clearly defines what Freemasons believe that I



have included the complete text of that papal bull as an appendix to this
book.

Finally, it should be added that the events described here were part of a
great watershed of Western history. The feudal age was coming to a close.
Land, and the peasant labor on it, had lost its role as the sole source of
wealth. Merchant families banded into guilds, and took over whole towns
with charters as municipal corporations. Commerce led to banking and
investment, and towns became power centers to rival the nobility in wealth
and influence.

The universal church, which had fought for a position of supremacy in a
feudal context, was slow to accept changes that might affect that supremacy.
Any material disagreement with the church was called heresy, the most
heinous crime under heaven. The heretic not only deserved death, but the
most painful death imaginable.

Some dissidents run for the woods and hide, while others organize. In the
case of the fugitive Knights Templar, the organization already existed. They
possessed a rich tradition of secret operations that had been raised to the
highest level through their association with the intricacies of Byzantine
politics, the secret ritual of the Assassins, and the intrigues of the Moslem
courts which they met alternately on the battlefield or at the conference
table. The church, in its bloody rejection of protest and change, provided
them with a river of recruits that flowed for centuries.

More than six hundred years have passed since the suppression of the
Knights Templar, but their heritage lives on in the largest fraternal
organization ever known. And so the story of those tortured crusading
knights, of the savagery of the Peasants’ Revolt, and of the lost secrets of
Freemasonry becomes the story of the most successful secret society in the
history of the world.
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THE URGE TO KILL

In 1347, over a thousand miles from London, the Kipchak Mongols were

besieging a walled Genoese trading center on the Crimean coast. Kipchak
besiegers were beginning to die in large numbers from a strange disease
that appeared to be highly infectious. In what may be the world's first
recorded instance of biological warfare, the Kipchaks began to catapult the
diseased corpses over the walls.

A few months later, Genoese galleys from the besieged city put in at
Messina in Sicily, with men dying at their oars and tales of dead men who
had been thrown over the side all along the way. The sailors ignored the
efforts of authorities to prevent their landing, and the Black Death set foot
ashore in Europe. Carried by ships' rats, it moved onto the continent
through the ports of Naples and Marseilles. From Italy it moved into
Switzerland and eastern Europe, meeting the spread through France into
Germany. The plague came to England on ships landing at ports in Dorset
and spread from there. Within two years it had killed off an estimated 35
to 40 percent of the population of Europe and Britain.

As in all times and places, famine, malnutrition, and the resultant lower
immune defenses put out the welcome mat for the epidemic. A change in
climate had produced longer winters and cooler, wetter summers, which had
shortened and thwarted the growing season. From 1315 to 1318 torrential



summer rains ruined crops, and mass starvation followed. Succeeding
harvests were sporadic, but at least the people could survive. Then, in 1340,
there was almost universal crop failure, and thousands perished in the worst
famine of the century.

Even under what they would have considered ideal conditions, the general
population was undernourished. Their diet was chiefly of wheat and rye,
with few vegetables and a minimum of meat and milk—ypartially because,
even if they could afford them, there was no refrigeration or other means
of preservation. Vitamin and mineral deficiencies in winter were a part of
life. Hunting could provide fresh meat, but hunting rights belonged to the
manor lords. A beating was a light punishment and death not uncommon
for taking a deer, or even a rabbit, from the lord's forests. That so many
took the risk speaks to the intensity of the biological craving for fresh food.

Disease generally finds its easiest victims among children, who do not
develop a mature immune system until about the age of ten or eleven, and
among the elderly, whose immune systems decline with advancing years,
and so it was with the Black Death. Although people of all ages and all
stations died in the tens of thousands, the very young and the very old
dominate the statistics. It was the very opposite of a “baby boom,” leaving
few young people to enter the work force during the next generation.

The Black Death was not a single disease, but three, and the source of all
three was a flea. A bacillus in the blood blocks the flea's stomach. As the
flea rams its probe through the skin of its host, preferably the black rat, the
bacillus erupts from the flea's stomach and enters the host, introducing the
infection. As the rats died off, the fleas took to other animals and to
humans.

In one form, the bacilli settle in the lymph glands. Large swellings and
carbuncles, called buboes, appear in the groin and armpits, which give this
form of the disease the name “bubonic plague.” The term “Black Death”
comes from the fact that the victim's body is covered with black spots and
his tongue turns black. Death usually comes within three days.

In another form—septicemic—the blood is infected, and death may take a
week or more. The fastest death comes from the most infectious form, the



pneumonic, which causes an inflammation of the throat and lungs, spitting
and vomiting of blood, a foul stench, and intense pain.

No scientific identification was made of the plague diseases at the time,
nor was anything known of the method of transmission. This permitted all
manner of wild theories to be promulgated, of which the most common was
that the Black Death was a punishment from God. Some even cursed God
for the great calamity, and Philip VI of France took steps to prevent God
from getting any angrier than He apparently already was. Special laws were
passed against blasphemy, with very specific punishments. For the first
offense, the lower lip of the blasphemer would be sliced off. For the
second offense, the upper lip would go, and for the third offense the
offender's tongue would be cut out.

Groups of penitents sprang up, publicly doing penance for sins that they
could not specifically identify, but that were obviously serious enough to
anger God to the point of destroying the human race. Only the most severe
penance would do to expiate such horrible sin. Self-flagellation turned into
group flagellation as penitents walked the streets, often led by a priest, and
beat one another with knotted ropes and whips tipped with metal to lacerate
their flesh. Some carried heavy crosses or wore crowns of thorns.

Others found their own answers in uninhibited rites and sexual orgies.
Some acted on the theory that since the world was ending shortly every
possible pleasure should be indulged; others believed an appeal to Satan
was the only alternative, now that they had been abandoned by God.

As always in the Middle Ages, some communities put the blame on the
only non-Christians in their midst, the Jews. Even though the Jews were
dying from the Black Death themselves, they were accused of poisoning
wells and causing the plague with secret rites and incantations intended to
wipe out Christianity. Bloody pogroms were mounted in France, Austria,
and especially—as had been the case during the Crusades—in Germany. In
Strasbourg over two hundred Jews were burned alive. At one town on the
Rhine the Jews were butchered, then their remains were sealed in wine
barrels and sent bobbing down the river. The Jews at Esslingen who
survived the first wave of persecution thought that their own world was
coming to an end and gathered in their synagogue. They set the building on



fire, burning themselves to death. Those Jews who weren’t killed were
frequently expelled, leaving their homes to spread their culture, and often
the plague, to other areas. Poland saw its own persecutions in scattered
areas, but that country was generally much safer than Germany, and
German Jews streamed into Polish territory. This was the origin of the
Ashkenazic (German) Jewish communities in Poland. They kept their
German language, which gradually evolved into a vernacular called Yiddish.

Because of their crowded conditions and almost total lack of sanitation, the
towns and cities were hardest hit at first, but as the townsmen dispersed to
avoid the plague, they took it with them into the rural areas. As the
farmers died off, fields went to weeds, and untended animals wandered the
countryside until many of them died the same way their owners had. Henry
Knighton, a canon of St. Mary’s Abbey in Leicester, reported five thousand
sheep dead and rotting in a single pasture. It has been estimated that the
population of England when the plague first crossed the Channel was 4
million. By the time it subsided, the population had been reduced to less
than 2.5 million.

News of the ravages of the plague in England reached the Scots, who
concluded that this decimation of their ancient enemy could have come
from no source other than an avenging God. They decided to assist the
Almighty in His divine plan and attack the English in their weakened state.
The call went out for the clans to gather at Selkirk Forest, but before they
could begin their march south the plague struck the camp, killing an
estimated five thousand Scots in a few days’ time. There was nothing to do
but abandon the invasion plan, so the still healthy, with the sick and dying,
broke camp to return to their homes. Word of the gathering had reached the
English, who moved north to intercept the invasion. They arrived in time to
intercept and slaughter the dispersed Scottish army.

Incredibly, while the greatest death toll the world had ever known was in
progress, the war between England and France kept right on going, each
weakened side hoping that the other side was even weaker. Armies needed
supplies, the products of craftsmen and farmers, of whom over a third had
died. Armies needed money, and the population and products usually taxed
for that purpose were declining. When the plague died out after a couple of



years, the world was different than it had been before. It would never be
the same again, because the lowest classes of society suddenly experienced
a new power.

What had happened was that the one law that can never be broken
without consequences, the law of supply and demand, was in full force and
effect—this time to the benefit of the farmer, the common laborer, and the
craftsman. In the recollection of the landowning class, there never had been
a time when farm labor or farm tenant supply did not exceed the demand
for it. Now the foundations of a way of life that had worked for centuries
were beginning to crack. In the dark ages of anarchy the individual had
been helpless. The preservation of life itself was the major consideration,
and men freely pledged themselves in servitude to a stronger man who
would provide them with protection. These strong men pledged themselves
to even stronger men, and the result was the feudal system. Men at all
levels pledged military service, often for a specific campaign or a specific
period, such as forty days a year. The warrior class became the nobility,
and they required wealth for war-horses, weapons, and armor. They needed
still more wealth, partially in the form of labor, to build fortified places
where their followers could come for protection. These gradually grew from
moated stockades and fortified houses to lofty stone structures requiring an
army of stonecutters, masons, carpenters, and smiths. All this had to be
paid for, and although some revenue might be generated by the loot of
warfare or the ransom of wealthy captives, the primary source of that
wealth was the land, and the labor of the people who worked it.

As the armored horseman came to dominate the field of battle, there came
an “arms race” of knights. The pledge of a local baron to his count might
now include his obligation to respond to a call to arms by bringing with
him anywhere from a single mounted knight to dozens, depending upon the
size of his holdings. A knight was expensive to equip and maintain. He
needed at least one trained heavy war-horse, a lighter horse for ordinary
travel, and more horses for his squire, servants, and baggage. He required
personal armor, which was very expensive, as well as some armor for his
horse. To support him in all this, in exchange for his services he was
provided with land, and the people on that land.



The status of serfs had changed over the centuries. Some were gradually
able to become tenant farmers, tilling farmland assigned to them on shares
while still making payments to the manor lord in fixed terms of service in
the manor fields. Customs varied from one manor to another, but generally
the tenant farmer paid in many ways for his tenure. On his death, his best
farm animal went to the lord as a fee (the ‘heriot”), and his second-best
animal to the parish priest. Neither he nor any member of his family could
marry without permission, which usually required a payment. In addition to
his prescribed days of labor for the lord (often two or three days a week),
he might be called upon to give extra service without pay, a requirement
with the unlikely name of "loveboon." He was subject to restrictions on
gathering firewood, taking wood to repair his house, and even collecting the
precious manure that would drop in the roads and byways.

If the manor lord owned a mill, the tenant had to use that mill and pay
for the privilege. The. same applied to manor ovens, frequently creating a
monopoly on the baking of bread. In view of his rights and obligations, the
tenant was not a serf, who was a man bound almost in slavery, but neither
was he totally free. The greatest barrier to his liberty was the old law that
took away his freedom of movement. These tenant farmers were required to
stay on the manor to which they were attached by birth, where they lived
in a cluster of houses called a “vill” (the obvious forerunner of “village”).
For this reason the tenant was called a villein, pronounced almost the same
way as the more disparaging term villain which was sometimes applied to
him by his lord.

What most dramatically changed the status of many villeins was the manor
lord’s need for cash rather than a share of a crop that could not easily be
transported to market for sale. There were almost no wagon roads, and
grain crops could not be economically transported by packhorse, as was
done with wool. The king needed cash to fight his French wars, and the
nobles needed cash to pay mercenaries and to acquire transportation and
supplies on the continent. Villeins began to make deals in which a ha’penny
or penny might be given instead of a day’s labor and a fixed cash payment
in lieu of a share of crops. Their attitudes changed as they found
themselves “renting” the land rather than trading their time and muscles for



it. They felt free in the absence or reduction of the old customs of
humbling servitude.

By the time of the Black Death, many of the English manors were held
by the church. Some had been purchased, and many had been gifted. The
extensive manorial holdings of the Knights Templar had been conveyed to
the Knights of the Hospital of St. John of Jerusalem (the Hospitallers) after
the Templars were suppressed by Pope Clement V in 1312. All of the
monastic orders had manorial properties with thousands of serfs and villeins
attached to them. Even the substitution of cash for villein services often
didn’t meet the lord’s or bishop’s need for cash, and a prosperous tenant
would be permitted to purchase his freedom for a lump sum. Unfortunately,
such men usually did not foresee a need for documentation that would
stand up in court and so recorded the manumission improperly, or not at
all. The attitude of the church was a simple: No manumission was valid
unless it was a recorded part of a business transaction. Any other act of
freeing a villein was treated as embezzlement of valuable church property.

Now the Black Death had taken away a third or more of the work force.
With labor shortages, prices went up, especially for the products of a
greatly reduced work force of craftsmen. There were far fewer bootmakers,
weavers, carpenters., masons, and smiths. There was less money being
generated, and it bought less in the face of rising prices.

This was a golden time for the previously oppressed villein. Manors were
lying fallow and their owners needed the income. For the first time in his
life the tenant farmer's services were in short supply and he could bargain
for, and get, a better share of the harvest and generally better living and
working conditions. For his spare-time labor he could get double or triple
the wages he was used to. Tenants began to leave their vills for better
opportunities, much to the anger of their old landlords.

To put a stop to all this and restore things to comfortable normalcy, the
English Parliament passed a Statute of Labourers in 1351. Primarily the
statute tried to fix prices for labor at their preplague levels but it contained
several extraordinary provisions. The rates for farm laborers were not just
spelled out (two and a half pence for threshing a quarter of barley, five
pence per acre for mowing, and so on), but, to enforce the rule, farm



workers were to show themselves in market towns with their tools in their
hands so that labor contracts would be made in public, not in secret. The
statute forbade any extra incentives, such as meals. Farm contracts were to
be made by the year and not by the day. Farm workers were to take an
oath twice a year before the steward or constable of their vill, swearing that
they would abide by the ordinances. They were forbidden to leave their
own vills if work was available to them at home at the set prices. If any
man refused to take the oath or violated the statute, he was to be put in
the stocks for three days, or until he agreed to submit to the new law. For
that purpose, the statute ordered that stocks be constructed in every single
village in England.

Craftsmen were not overlooked. The statute set wages at three pence per
day for a master carpenter, four pence for a master mason, three pence per
day for roof tilers and thatchers. All producers of products—saddlers,
goldsmiths, tanners, tailors, bootmakers, and so on—were to charge no more
than their average price during the four years before the plague, and all
were to take oaths that they would obey the law. Breaking the oath, and
the law, carried an unusual punishment. For a first offense, the overcharger
would be imprisoned for 40 days—with the prison term to be doubled for
each subsequent offense. Thus a third offense would mean prison for 160
days (40, 80, 160). Under this provision, if a bootmaker could be convicted
on nine counts of selling shoes at too high a price, the ninth offense alone
would earn him 10,240 days in jail.

Attempts were made to enforce the Statute of Labourers, some vigorous,
but essentially it just didn't work. It was trying to suppress a popular black
market filled with eager buyers and eager sellers. Actually, the situation got
worse. As farm workers and craftsmen left the market place because of
death or old age, a smaller pool of new young workers took their places
because of the disproportionate rate of infant and child deaths during the
Black Death. Inflation continued to climb. Villeins and serfs with no claim
to freedom, or who were too closely watched to be able to move
elsewhere, could only go about their daily tasks in ever-reduced
circumstances because of higher prices for everything they bought. Just as
much victims, because they had no bargaining power, were the lower orders



of the clergy. The bishops, in order to maintain themselves in a proper state
of luxury and to meet the demands of a papal court whose income had
been shattered by a rival claimant to the Throne of Peter, refused to
increase the stipends of their ordinary clergy. This left the village priests at
near-starvation levels in times of incessant inflation and gave them common
ground with their parishioners against great lords, whether temporal or
spiritual.

To add to the demand for goods and services, the Hundred Years’ War
had begun in 1337. This war saw the change from great mobs of people
struggling in hand-to-hand combat, stabbing, cutting, and thrusting at each
other, to the use of improved missiles—means by which men could kill
each other from a distance. Bows and arrows had been around forever, but
were comparatively weak and no threat to the armor-plated warrior, nor to
his position as the invincible “tank” of the medieval battlefield. Before the
improved missiles the most effective weapon on the field may not have
been the knight, but rather his war-horse. What today is thought of only as
a heavy work-horse was bred to carry a man and his weight of weapons
and armor, as well as the weight of the horse’s own armor and its massive
horseshoes, which were terrible weapons in themselves. No mob of infantry
could withstand that massive bulk crashing into it. For the melee following
the charge, the war-horse was trained to bite and kick.

Then along came the crossbow, presenting the first material threat to the
battlefield superiority of the armored knight. Its short compound bow, made
of layered wood, bone, and horn, could propel a short thick arrow (or
“quarrel”) at a speed that would penetrate light armor. Thus the armored
warrior, the aristocrat in war or peace, could be killed by an opponent he
could not get his hands on—worse, an opponent from the lower classes. It
wasn’t fair, and if it wasn’t fair to the lords, it probably was not in
keeping with God’s will. A pope went so far as to ban the use of the
crossbow by Christians, but the ban had no noticeable effect. Bans on
weapons never work because they are always accompanied by the unspoken
caveat, “We won't use it unless we absolutely must in order to win.”

The crossbow was not the ideal weapon, because it had two shortcomings.
First, the range was short. More important, the crossbow was very difficult



to draw. Some had a stirrup for the bowman’s foot, to hold the bow to the
ground, while the bowstring was attached to a hook fastened to a strap
around the bowman’s waist or shoulders. He would crouch down, hook the
string, and then use the entire strength of his legs and back to draw the
bow to a locked position for firing. This procedure was not only slow but
required strength. It required training to draw and to aim. In addition, the
crossbow was relatively expensive to manufacture: A peasant subject to
feudal military service would not have one lying about the house. The
crossbowman became a mercenary.

It took cash to employ the crossbowman’s services, not feudal obligation.
At the Battle of Crecy in 1346, the crossbowmen of the French army were
a band of Genoese mercenaries. On the other side, the English were about
to demonstrate a weapon that immediately overshadowed the crossbow, the
so-called English longbow (‘“so-called” because it was actually the product
of Welsh ingenuity). The demonstration, that day, of the superiority of the
longbow rocked all of Europe. Forget the total death toll; the important
item was that over fifteen hundred fully armored French dukes, counts, and
knights had fallen in one battle. That single fact changed the course of
European society. Previously, knights had expected to be killed, if at all,
only by each other. They held the monopoly on warfare, and so on power.
Now hundreds of invincible aristocrats had been done in by a handful of
the lowest level of commoner with pieces of wood and string in their
hands. It changed forever the way the two classes regarded each other. No
longer was the feudal levy that called a mob of untrained peasants to war
of any account. Archers became professional soldiers, well trained, well
paid, and well treated. They became the heroes of the hour, and they were
peasant heroes. It may be impossible for us to evaluate the class distinctions
that had existed before that time. The armored knights were, to the peasant,
invincible, and on such a lofty plane as to be superior creatures akin to
gods from another planet. One did not even contemplate standing up to
them, and now the gods had dropped a notch. The knight had reason to sit
in his hall and stare at the fire with wrinkled brow, and the peasant had an
entirely new feeling of his own worth and pride. He might still share that



new worth with his fellows in whispers, but the thought once planted
continued to grow.

With the changes in the conduct of war, the king more than ever needed
feudal obligations to be fulfilled with money, rather than with service. The
new professional soldier worked for pay and needed to be supplied with
food, equipment, and baggage animals, as well as transportation to the
continent. In spite of labor shortages, inflation, and disease, the monarchy
would not relent in the pursuit of the Hundred Years’ War, which had
started in 1337. The only answer was—quite literally—taxes, taxes, and
more taxes.

Out of that state of affairs grew a situation that had to cause trouble: The
landowners called upon old rights under the law, propounded by lawyers
that only they could afford to hire, to take away a man’s freedom and that
of his descendants. Men who called themselves free were ordered to prove
it. Genealogies and parish records were searched to prove that a man’s
mother or grandmother had been a villein or serf and that he had
irrevocably inherited that status. It was the one way to use the law to get
cheap and legally bound labor that could not leave for better conditions
elsewhere. The only beneficiaries were the landowners. The bigger the
landowner, the greater the benefit from the enforcement of villeinage, and
the church was the biggest landowner of them all. It had the largest number
of serfs and villeins to be held, or forced back from their temporary
freedom elsewhere. Bitterness against the church grew among the common
people, and the flames of their resentment were frequently fanned by the
discontented lower clergy.

An Oxford priest and scholar named John Wycliffe set in motion more,
perhaps, than he had intended when he began to preach church reform. He
was especially incensed by the corruption of the church and by what he
saw as its constant struggle for more power and material trappings, at the
expense of the traditional pastoral mission of the church. He saw a direct
line of contact between men and God that did not require the services of a
priest. He claimed that no one but God had control over men’s souls. He
said that the king was answerable directly to God and did not need a papal
intermediary. One of his most shocking claims, for its day, was that



sacraments served by priests who were themselves sinners, and not in a
state of grace, were of no effect whatever, and that included the pope. He
even went so far as to translate the Vulgate Bible into English, on the
grounds that all Christian men and women should have direct access to
holy scripture, for in scripture he found perfection and would not question a
word of it. However, he pointed out, there is no scriptural mention of a
pope.

Such attacks on the church could not go unanswered, and Wycliffe was
arraigned on charges of heresy at St. Paul’s. That he was not sentenced to
death is probably attributable to the London mob that raged in protest.
Wycliffe was merely removed from his post and sent down to live in his
parish of Lutterworth. He did not curtail his criticism of the church but
redirected that criticism from the audience of his fellow churchmen to the
people, who were of a mind to listen. His followers became wandering
preaching priests and took Wycliffe’s message to the towns and villages.

More immediately effective on the home front was John Ball, whom the
French chronicler Jean Froissart called “a mad priest of Kent.” Ball
preached against class and privilege, including in the church. He also
demanded agrarian reform, insisting that the landholdings of the great barons
and of the church be taken away from them and distributed among the
people. Since 1360 Ball and his following of priests had roamed central and
southeastern England, preaching doctrines of equality of rights and the
redistribution or common ownership of property. He was arrested by church
authorities a number of times and finally excommunicated. In 1381, at the
outbreak of the Peasants’ Rebellion, he was in the archbishop’s prison at
Maidstone in Kent.

There had been hope that the French influence on the papacy would end
when Pope Gregory XI returned the Holy See to Rome in 1377.
Unfortunately, a large segment of the church hierarchy had not agreed with
the move. By that time many of the cardinals were French and much
preferred the French base at Avignon. When Gregory XI died the following
year, the people of Rome rioted to secure their demand that the new pope
be an Italian, and so he was, taking the name of Urban VI. The French
cardinals declared the election invalid. They elected their own French pope,



who would rule as Clement VII, and returned to Avignon. This was the
Great Schism in the church, which was not healed for many years. It
became a political schism as well, with the anti-Roman Clement VII at
Avignon supported by France, Scotland, Portugal, Spain, and several German
principalities, while the Roman pope Urban VI was supported by the
enemies of France: England, Hungary, Poland, and the German Holy Roman
Emperor. Each pope excommunicated all of the adherents of his rival,
barring them from the sacraments, so that all across Europe every single
Christian soul of the time had been damned and placed outside God’s
protection by one pope or the other. This was not a circumstance to be
taken lightly. In one instance pro-English forces, supporters of the Roman
pope, captured a French convent whose members recognized the pope at
Avignon. The soldiers and their clerics had no problem agreeing that these
poor misguided sisters were totally outside the protection of either civil or
ecclesiastic law. Accordingly, they saw no deterrent to looting all of the
possessions of the convent and raping all of the nuns. By the rules of the
day, they didn't even have to mention the event at their next confessions.

And all the time, the war between England and France went on, with both
sides starved for the tax revenues needed to support the conflict.

In 1377 a poll tax of fourpence per head had been imposed on all the
people in England. In 1379 Parliament came up with a graduated tax based
on social status. Both taxes failed, and some of the crown jewels had to be
sold to maintain the war with France. In November 1380 the tax was set at
one shilling per head, with the extraordinary provision that the rich should
help the poor to pay the tax. They did not, of course, and the tax failed.

The English Parliament of 1376 became known to the people as the Good
Parliament, primarily because it condemned corruption in the king’s
government. Addressing bribery, it said that the king’s counselors should
take nothing from any party to business brought before them except presents
of little value, such as small items of food and drink. On the subject of
taxation, the members asserted that if the king had loyal officers and good
counselors he would be rich in treasure without any need for taxation,
especially considering the “king's ransoms” exacted for the release of King
David II of Scotland after his capture at the Battle of Neville’s Cross in



1346 and for King John II of France, captured at the Battle of Poitiers in
1356. They suggested that the men who had bled away those fortunes
should be accused and punished.

The Good Parliament also impeached a merchant of London named
Richard Lyons, finding him guilty of wvarious crimes of extortion and
corruption. It was charged that, as a royal tax collector, he had generously
helped himself to funds intended for the royal treasury. It was adjudged that
all of his lands, goods, and chattels should be seized by the crown and that
he should be imprisoned for life. Instead, Lyons’s wealth and his friends
secured a royal pardon for him.

The name “Good Parliament” may have been descriptive, but equally so
would have been the title, “The Ignored Parliament.”

So here we have an England in an incessant state of war, with
skyrocketing inflation, attempts to return free men to bondage, a Great
Schism in the church that found every man in England excommunicated by
the Avignon pope, a growing segment of vocally angry priests, and the
burden of the highest poll tax ever levied upon the people. The powder keg
was filled to the brim. In the spring of 1381, the government accelerated its
efforts to collect the tax and the fuse was lit. The explosion of rebellion
was just a few days away.



CHAPTER 2
“FOR NOW IS TYME
TO BE WAR”

The Encyclopaedia Britannica calls it a “curiously spontaneous” rebellion.

Barbara Tuchman, in her fourteenth-century history, A Distant Mirror, said
that the rebellion spread “with some evidence of planning.”

Winston Churchill went further. In The Birth of Britain he wrote,
“Throughout the summer of 1381 there was a general ferment. Beneath it
all lay organization. Agents moved round the villages of central England, in
touch with a ‘Great Society’ which was said to meet in London.”

The spark of rebellion was being fanned vigorously, and finally the signal
was given. Even though he had been arrested, excommunicated, and even
now was a prisoner in the ecclesiastic prison at Maidstone. in Kent, letters
went out from priest John Ball and from other priests who followed him.
Clerics were then the only literate class, so letters must have been received
by local priests and were obviously intended to be shared with or read
aloud to others. They all contained a signal to act now. which could put to
rest the concept that the rebellion was simply a spontaneous convulsion of
frustration that just happened to affect a hundred thousand Englishmen at
the same time. This from a letter from John Ball: “John Balle gretyth yow
wele alle and doth yowe to understande, he hath rungen youre belle. Nowe



ryght and myght, wylle and skylle. God spede every ydele [ideal]. Now is
tyme.”

yowe in alle your dedes. For now is tyme to be war.” From priest Jakke

From priest Jakke Carter: “You have gret nede to take God with

Trewman: “Jakke Trewman doth you to understande that falsnes and gyle
have reigned too long, and trewthe hat bene sette under a lokke, and
falsnes regneth in everylk flokke.... God do bote, for now is tyme.”

One letter from John Ball, “Saint Mary Priest,” is worth quoting in its
entirety. Even with the medieval English spelling, the meaning will be clear.
Lechery and gluttony were frequent points in his accusations of high church
leaders. “John Balle seynte Marye prist gretes wele alle maner men byddes
hem in the name of the Trinite, Fadur, and Sone and Holy Gost stonde
manlyche togedyr in trewthe, and helpez trewthe, and trewthe schal helpe
yowe. Now regneth pride in pris [prize] and covetys is hold wys, and
leccherye withouten shame and glotonye withouten blame. Envye regnith
with tresone, and slouthe is take in grete sesone. God do bote, for nowe is
tyme amen.”

In all the letters quoted, the emphasis has been added to identify the
common signal “now is tyme.” More evidence of planning and organization
would come.

The violence erupted in Essex, prompted by new and more stringent efforts
to collect a third poll tax. The idea of having special commissioners to
enforce the tax collection had come from the king’s sergeant-at-arms, a
Franciscan friar named John Legge. That idea would cost him his head a
few weeks later.

The commissioners in some instances attacked their duties overzealously.
Some were reported to have examined young girls to see if they had
engaged in sexual intercourse, as an aid to determining whether or not they
were fifteen years of age and so taxable. One man, John of Deptford, was
arrested after he struck the tax gatherer who had raised his daughter’s dress
to see if she had pubic hair, evidence of taxable age.

In some areas the tax collectors were either simply ignored or beaten up
by the villagers. A great local lord, John de Bamptoun, set himself up in
the town of Brentwood in Essex and demanded that the men of the
neighboring towns come to him with complete lists of names and their tax



money. Over a hundred men responded to his orders—not to pay the taxes,
but to inform him that they had no intention of doing so. Optimistically, de
Bamptoun ordered his two sergeants-at-arms to arrest the hundred villagers
and put them in prison. The crowd angrily attacked the royal officers, and
de Bamptoun counted himself lucky to be allowed to flee back to London.

In response, the government sent back Sir Robert Bealknap, chief justice
of common pleas. Sir Robert came armed with specific indictments and
statements signed by jurors. (In those days, jurors were the opposite of
independent. They were witnesses, literally those with “wit-ness” or
“possession of knowledge” of the matter at hand, and frequently they were
the accusers as well). In spite of Bealknap’s ponderous authority, his
reception was no better than that previously accorded de Bamptoun. The
locals seized the royal party and forced Bealknap to reveal the names of
the jurors who had named and sworn against de Bamptoun’s assailants.
With that information, parties set out to hunt them down. Jurors caught
were beheaded and their heads mounted on poles, as examples to others,
while those who couldn’t be found had their houses burned or pulled down.
As for the chief justice, he was berated as a traitor to the king and to the
kingdom but in the end was permitted to return to London. Not allowed to
go with him were his three clerks, who were recognized as the same clerks
who had been with de Bamptoun. They were beheaded.

Meanwhile, in Kent, the county just south of Essex across the Thames, a
knight of the king’s household, Sir Simon Burley, had come to Gravesend
and had leveled against a freeman named Robert Belling the charge that
Belling was Burley’s serf. He set a fine of three hundred pounds in silver
as the price of Belling’s liberty. The men of Gravesend were outraged at
both the charge and the fine, a sum they declared would ruin Belling
entirely. The royal officer responded by having Belling bound and thrown
into the dungeon at nearby Rochester Castle. At the same time, a tax
commission had arrived in Kent on a mission similar to that of Sir Robert
Bealknap in Essex; the Franciscan sergeant-at-arms John Legge came armed
with specific indictments against a number of people in the county. They
had planned to establish the seat of the Kentish inquiry at Canterbury, but
were driven off by the local citizenry.



As word of these events spread, the men of Kent began to gather,
centered on the town of Dartford. A group of Essex men crossed the
Thames in boats to join them. Showing not just organization but perhaps
discipline as well, the leaders decreed that no men who lived within twelve
leagues (about thirty-six miles) of the sea would be allowed to join their
march, because those men might be needed at home to help fight off any
surprise French attack on the English coast.

The Kentish mob moved not toward London but away from it, heading
east to lay siege to Rochester Castle, where they demanded the release of
Robert Belling. After just half a day, and no recorded defense, the constable
of the castle opened the gates to the rebels. They released Belling and
every other prisoner, then turned south to Maidstone, where they arrived on
June 7. There they were joined by more men, including one known as
Walter the Tyler. Remarkably, he was immediately acknowledged by
thousands of men as their supreme commander and gave his name to the
rising: “Wat Tyler’s Revolt.” Nothing is known of Wat Tyler’s prior life,
nor of the means by which a supposedly disorganized mob acknowledged
his leadership on the very day he arrived.

One of Tyler’s first acts was to free John Ball, the “Saint Mary Priest” of
York, from the church prison at Maidstone, and Ball became the unofficial
chaplain of the expedition from that point forward.

Still moving away from London, Tyler took his force farther east to
Canterbury, the seat of the leading churchman in England. That Tyler
planned all along for his rude army to march on London is indicated by
the rebels’ first act upon their arrival at Canterbury on Monday, June 10.
Thousands of rebels crowded into the church during high mass. After
kneeling, they shouted to the monks to elect one of their number to be the
new archbishop of Canterbury, because the present archbishop (who was off
in London with the king, who had recently appointed him chancellor of the
realm) “is a traitor and will be beheaded for his iniquity,” as indeed he
was before the week was over. The rebel leaders then asked for the names
of any “traitors” in the town. Three names were provided, and the three
men were sought out and beheaded. Then the rebels left the town, allowing
just five hundred Canterbury men to join them because Canterbury was near



to the coast and the balance of the men would be needed in the event of
an attack by the French.

On the same day (June 10) that Tyler took over Canterbury in Kent, the
gathering Essex mob sacked and burned a major commandery of the
Knights Hospitallers called Cressing Temple. This wealthy manor had been
given to the Knights Templar in 1138 by Matilda, the wife of King
Stephen. When the Templars were suppressed by Pope Clement V, all of
their property in Britain, including this manor of Cressing, was given to the
Hospitallers. The church owned one-third of the land surface of England at
that time and suffered greatly at the hands of the rebels, but no single
group suffered losses comparable to those inflicted over the next few days
on the Knights Hospitallers, who seemed to be on an especially aggressive
hit list of the rebel leaders.

The following day, June 11, the rebels in both Essex and Kent turned
toward London. Even with the burning, beheading, and destruction of
records along the way, their purpose and discipline were such that both
groups, upwards of a hundred thousand men, made the seventy-mile journey
in two days, reaching the city at almost the same time.

Warned of the rebels’ approach, the fourteen-year-old King Richard II
moved from Windsor to the Tower of London, the strongest fortress in the
kingdom. He was joined there by an entourage that included Sir Simon
Sudbury, who was both archbishop of Canterbury and chancellor; Sir Robert
Hales, who was both the king’s treasurer and the prior of the order of the
Knights of the Hospital of St. John of Jerusalem (the Hospitallers); Henry
Bolingbroke, who would one day depose Richard and take the throne
himself as Henry IV; the earls of Oxford, Kent, Arundel, Warwick, Suffolk,
and Salisbury; and other peers and lesser officials, including the chief justice
Sir Robert Bealknap, the unsuccessful tax collector John de Bamptoun, and
the hated Franciscan sergeant-at-arms, John Legge. They all had reason to
fear for their lives at the hands of the rebel horde advancing on the city.

On June 12 the Essex men began arriving at Mile End, near Aldgate.
Across the river, the Kentish rebels gathered at Southwark, at the south end
of London Bridge. Confederates and sympathizers streamed out of London
to join them. One Kentish group came through nearby Lambeth, on the



south side of the Thames, and sacked the archbishop’s palace there, burning
the furnishings and all the records they could find. (On that same day,
across the river in the Tower, from where he could see the smoke rising
from his palace, the archbishop returned the Great Seal to the king and
asked to be relieved of his public duties as chancellor.) Other rebel groups
broke open the prisons on the south side of the river, including the
ecclesiastic prison of the bishops of Winchester on Clink Street, a location
that gave the name ‘“the clink” to prisons everywhere. On smashing open
the Marshalsea prison in Southwark, the mob searched for its commander,
Richard Imworth, famous for his cruelty. Unable to locate Imworth, they
contented themselves, for the moment, with the destruction of his house.

Messengers went out to the rebels from the king, asking the reason for
this disturbance of the peace of the land. The answer came back that the
uprising was dedicated to saving the king and to destroying traitors to king
and country. The king’s reply to this was to ask the rebels to cease their
depredations and wait until he could meet with them to resolve all
injustices against them. The rebels agreed and asked the king to meet with
them early in the morning of June 13 at Blackheath on the Thames, a few
miles from London. The men of Kent gathered at the meeting place on the
south bank of the river and the men of Essex on the north. The king and
his party left the Tower in four barges but only got as far as the royal
manor at Rotherhithe, near Greenwich, where Archbishop Sudbury and Sir
Robert Hales persuaded the party to get no closer to the rebels. Upon
learning that the king was not coming to them as promised, the Kentish
leaders sent the king a petition asking him for the heads of fifteen men.
Their list included the archbishop of Canterbury, the prior of the
Hospitallers, Chief Justice Bealknap, and the tax collectors John Legge and
John de Bamptoun. Not surprisingly, the royal council would not agree to
these demands, and the barges returned to the Tower. Each on their own
side of the river, the Essex men moved toward Aldgate and the Kentish
faction marched back toward Southwark and London Bridge. For reasons we
shall probably never know, Aldgate was undefended, and the Essex rebels
simply walked into the city. As much mystery attaches to the approach of



the Kentish mob to London Bridge. No attempt was made to man the
fortified gatehouse, and the drawbridge was lowered for them to cross.

Moving through the city, the rebels touched nothing until they reached
Fleet Street. There they attacked the Fleet prison and released all the
inmates. They destroyed two forges that the Hospitallers had taken over
from the Templars. Some joined a London mob and went to the Savoy
Palace of the hated royal uncle, John of Gaunt, pausing on the way only to
destroy any houses they could identify as belonging to the Hospitallers. The
Savoy Palace itself was destroyed in a mood of rage. Furniture and art
objects were smashed, linens and tapestries were burned. Jewels were
hammered to powder. Finally the building was set aflame, boosted by the
addition of several kegs of gunpowder.

From the Savoy the rebels returned to the Hospitaller property between
Fleet Street and the Thames, to buildings leased by that order to lawyers
who practiced before the king’s court in the adjoining royal city of
Westminster. They vandalized and burnt the lawyers’ buildings, burnt their
records, and killed anyone who registered an objection. They destroyed the
other Hospitaller buildings on the property, with one exception. Instead of
burning the rolls and records stored in the church where they found them,
they went to the trouble of carrying them out into the high road for
burning, avoiding any damage to the church itself. One historian goes so far
as to say that certain of the mob “protected” the church from damage. This
attitude was an anomaly in the midst of an orgy of destruction of church
property and church leaders. This property, too, had been taken from the
Templars and given to the Hospitallers, and even today that portion of the
City of London is known simply as “The Temple.” The church that was
left unscathed by the rebels had been the principal church of the Knights
Templar in England. This attitude toward the old Templar church stands out
in marked contrast to the mob’s feeling for the grand priory of the
Hospitallers at Clerkenwell, where they turned next. Still seeking out
Hospitaller property for destruction along the way, they arrived at
Clerkenwell and embarked upon an effort of total destruction. While the
Templar church still stands today, all that remains of the principal
Hospitaller church at Clerkenwell is the underground crypt.



Some of the mob went from London into the City of Westminster, where
they released all of the prisoners in Westminster prison. Moving back into
London, they did the same at the famous Newgate prison, taking chains and
shackles to place on the altar of a nearby church.

One group went to the Tower to seek an audience with the king. When
they were unsuccessful, they laid siege to the Tower. Word was sent out by
the rebel leaders to the bands still roving the city that every member of the
Chancery and Exchequer, every lawyer, and anyone who could write a writ
or letter should be beheaded. Ink-stained fingers were enough to condemn a
man to death on the spot. The church at that time had a virtual monopoly
on literacy, so the victims were most likely to be administrative clerics,
who also held a near monopoly on what we might now think of as the
“civil service” of the king’s government.

So far, the king’s council had appeared numbed into inactivity, but
something had to be done, and finally a plan was agreed upon. It could not
be based on force, because they had no force. The weapons they did have
were trickery and deceit. Word was cried out in every ward of the City
that on the following morning of Friday, June 14, the king and his council
would meet with the rebels and that all of their demands would be
satisfied. The promise was easily made because there was no intention to
keep it. The place selected was the open fields at Mile End, outside the
City beyond the Aldgate. It was expected that this move would achieve the
initial goal of pulling the rebels out of the City. In fact, most of them did
go, but Wat Tyler and his chief lieutenant, Jack Strawe, stayed behind with
several hundred men. Their ‘“chaplain,” the priest John Ball, stayed with
them. The rebel leadership had something more important to do than meet
with the king to discuss manumission of villeinage and serfdom.

In those days, the Thames came right up to and inside the south wall of
the Tower, so there was direct access by means of a water gate. As the
king’s party made ready to go to Mile End on Friday morning, the
archbishop of Canterbury tried to escape by boat. He was recognized, and
the ensuing hue and cry caused his crew to beat its way back through the
water gate to the safety of the Tower.



As promised, the king’s party left the Tower to meet the rebels at Mile
End. Chroniclers tell us that he was accompanied by such dignitaries as the
earls of Kent, Warwick, and Oxford, as well as by the mayor of London
and “many knights and squires.” What they do not tell us is why he was
not accompanied by two of his very highest officials, Sir Simon Sudbury,
who was the archbishop of Canterbury and chancellor of the realm, and Sir
Robert Hales, who was prior of the order of the Knights Hospitaller and
the king’s treasurer. We shall never know whether they chose to stay
behind or were ordered to do so. There is also no record of who spoke for
the rebels at Mile End while Tyler, Strawe, and Ball were on a mission
more important to them back in London.

At the meeting place all seemed to go well. The rebels asked two things:
first, that they should have the right to hunt down and execute all traitors
to the king and common people, and second, that no man should be bound
to another in serfdom or villeinage. Every Englishman should be a free
man. As to the first request, the king agreed that all “traitors” should be
put to death, provided that they were proven guilty under the law. He
asked that all such accused be brought to him for trial. As to the request
for universal freedom, he had brought about thirty clerks with him, who
began speedily grinding out writs of manumission.

As soon as the king was safely out of the City, Tyler, Strawe, and Ball
made their move. Incredibly, their plan was to take the Tower of London
with a few hundred ill-armed men. The Tower had been built to be the
most secure fortress in Britain, so secure that it housed the royal mint. It
was equipped with a heavy gate, an iron portcullis, and a drawbridge. At
the time of Tyler’s approach, the Tower was manned by professional
soldiers, including hundreds of experienced archers. It had leadership and
authority in the person of Archbishop Sudbury and, even more so, in the
person of Sir Robert Hales, commander of a military order.

Here again, there had to have been collusion and friends on the inside.
Tyler and his small band found the drawbridge down, the portcullis up, the
gate open. They simply walked into the Tower. No contemporary chronicler
refers to so much as a scuffle.



Inside, the archbishop had sung a mass and had confessed the prior of the
Hospitallers and others. The rebels found him at prayer in the chapel of the
Tower. A priest tried to hold them back by holding the consecrated host in
front of them, a practice known to turn aside all manner of demons and
evil spirits, but the rebels simply brushed him aside. The archbishop was
beaten to the floor and dragged out of the chapel and out of the Tower by
his arms and hood. Others dragged out the prior of the Hospitallers, while
still others searched the rooms for their proscribed victims. Among these
were the Franciscan sergeant-at-arms and tax collector John Legge and
another Franciscan friar, William Appleton, physician and counselor to John
of Gaunt. The captured men were all led out to Tower Hill, where a great
crowd had gathered. With background roars of approval, the rebels struck
off the heads of their special prisoners, which were put on poles and taken
to be mounted on London Bridge. As an aid to identifying the archbishop
of Canterbury, they took his miter along and nailed it to his head.

After the execution, the rebels and the London mob broke out through the
City, looking for additional victims. One man was beheaded simply because
he spoke well of Friar William Appleton, whom the rebels had executed at
Tower Hill. By the time their fury had abated, the rebels had beheaded
about 160 of their enemies. An especially noteworthy target was Richard
Lyons, the wealthy London burgess who had been impeached and found
guilty of many acts of corruption by the Parliament of 1376. He had been
sentenced to life imprisonment, but his influence was such that appeals to
the king by his friends had resulted in his being restored to freedom. There
was no appeal from the judgment of the rebel mob that pulled him from
his house and summarily chopped off his head.

While the rebels roamed the City with their hit list, the rebel leadership
mounted another unexplained project of its own. A group was organized and
sent out from London by Wat Tyler, commanded by his lieutenant Jack
Strawe and apparently guided by Londoner Thomas Farndon. They marched
about six miles out of London for the very specific purpose of destroying
the Hospitaller manor at Highbury, which a contemporary chronicler said
had been “recently and skillfully rebuilt like another paradise.”



Word of the rebel violence at the Tower and in the City reached Mile
End, and the royal party came back to London. They did not return to the
fortress of the Tower but went directly to the king’s wardrobe near Castle
Baynard, where his clerks continued to execute writs of manumission. Many
of the rebels took those writs for themselves or their villages and headed
back to their homes.

History gives us no clue as to how or why it was arranged, but agreement
was somehow reached that the king would meet again with the rebels at
Smithfield on the following day, Saturday, June 15. In the early morning of
that day, the king and his party were met by the prior and canons of
Westminster Abbey, all barefoot, who led them to the abbey cathedral for
services, accompanied by a number of curious rebels. The king heard mass
at the high altar and left a gift for the abbey. Rebels behind the altar
recognized Richard Imworth, the hated tormentor and marshal of the
Marshalsea prison, hiding in the shrine of St. Edward the Confessor. When
Imworth saw that he had been spotted, he clamped his arms around one of
the marble columns of the shrine and cried for mercy. The unmoved rebels
pried his arms loose from the column and carried him out to Cheapside,
where he was publicly beheaded.

Gradually the rebels gathered to await the king at Smithfield. They lined
up on one side of the great open field, while the king’s party and its
excort lined up on the opposite side, in front of St. Bartholemew’s Hospital.

What happened next is usually cited as the result of the insulting behavior
of Wat Tyler, but was more likely the result of a plan. Any force grossly
outnumbered is likely to give thought to a victory by means of the death
of the opposing leader. In any case, Mayor William Walworth was sent over
to the rebel side to invite Wat Tyler to meet with the king. Tyler would be
far from his men, and he recognized the danger. As a safety measure he
demonstrated a hand signal, upon which the rebels should charge forward
and kill everyone except the king. Accompanied by just one man carrying a
banner, Tyler rode across the broad field.

All of the accounts of what happened during the next few minutes were
written from the viewpoint of the government, not the rebels, and most of
those accounts were recorded by people who weren’t there. It appears that



Tyler recited a list of demands to the king that included the repeal of laws
of serfdom and of the game laws, the end of men being declared out-law
(outside the protection of the law), the seizure of church property and its
division among the people who worked it, and the appointment of just one
bishop of the church for all of England.

Putting aside all of the versions of the cause, what happened Was that at
one point Mayor Walworth drew his baselard (a double-edged dagger) and
struck at Tyler, cutting his neck. Ralph Standish, one of the king’s squires,
drew his sword and stabbed Tyler twice. Tyler tried to turn his horse back
to his own men, but dropped to the ground, mortally wounded.

The confused mob on the other side of the field could not clearly see
what had happened. The young king was said to have cantered over to the
rebel side, whether alone or with escorts we don’t know, and to have held
up his hand. He told the rebels that he would personally be their “chief
and captain” and that they could look to him for the accomplishment of all
their goals. He told them to meet with him at the fields by Clerkenwell,
where the Hospitaller priory was still burning. At this, he rejoined his own
group, which quickly moved off toward Clerkenwell, leaving the confused
rebels discussing what they should do next. Some went out to pick up their
dying leader and take him into St. Bartholemew's Hospital.

It took the rebels about an hour to reach a common decision and to set
off for Clerkenwell. During that time, and probably earlier, Sir Robert
Knolles, starting with about two hundred retainers of his own, was gathering
forces in London to oppose the rebels, their courage undoubtedly
strengthened by the news that Wat Tyler had fallen. Mayor Walworth, too,
sent out word for every able-bodied man to grab such weapons as he could
and make all speed to Clerkenwell to support the king.

At Clerkenwell the rebels demanded the heads of those who had struck
down Wat Tyler. As they argued and demanded, the armed Londoners
gathered around and behind them. Finally Sir Robert Knolles could inform
the king that six thousand men had gathered to protect him. The rebels at
Clerkenwell were outnumbered. The king now demanded that they disperse
to avoid punishment for their actions. Seeing their predicament, the rebel
band began to break up. The only organized group was made up of men of



Kent, led by Jack Strawe and John Ball. They were led out of the City,
back over London Bridge, which they had crossed in triumph just three
days earlier.

Upon the breakup of the rebels, William Walworth went looking for Wat
Tyler. He found him having his grave wounds tended at St. Bartholemew’s
Hospital and ordered that he be dragged outside, where his head was struck
off. Mounted on a pole, it was sent to relace the heads of Archbishop
Sudbury and Sir Robert Hales on London Bridge.

Therein the field, King Richard knighted William Walworth, Ralph
Standish, and other burgesses of the City. For London the rebellion was
over, but not so outside the city, where the rebellion had its expression in
dozens of towns, manors, and priories at locations hundreds of miles apart.

While the revolt in London has received most of the attention of history,
our quest for evidence of organization requires that we take a brief look at
events in other parts of England, where the rebellion went on even after
Tyler’s death.

On Wednesday, June 12, when the rebels were gathered outside the walls
of London, sacking Lambeth Palace and breaking open the Marshalsea
prison, a priest named John Wrawe appeared at Liston in Suffolk with a
band of rebels, sending out messages of recruitment to nearby towns. His
first move was to destroy the manor at Liston belonging to that same
Richard Lyons who had been impeached for fraud and corruption by the
Good Parliament of 1376 and then pardoned by the crown. (Lyons himself
was taken from his townhouse and beheaded by the rebels in London. The
attack on Lyons’s estate was certainly not mere happenstance.)

Wrawe’s next target was Bury St. Edmunds, the largest town in Suffolk. It
was totally ruled by the local monastery, which had consistently refused to
grant any municipal rights to the craftsmen and traders of the town. The
rebels were permitted to enter, after threatening to kill anyone who opposed
them. Townsmen were ready to guide the mob to their immediate sack of
the homes of officials of the order, including that of the prior, who fled at
their approach to the monastery at Mildenhall, about twelve miles away.
The next day the prior decided to try to get farther away by boat but



found rebels on the riverbank, blocking his escape. He managed to elude
his pursuers and make for the woods, accompanied by a local guide. The
guide went back to the rebels and informed them that the prior was in the
woods, so they circled the area, then gradually closed the ring and found
the prior. Taking their prisoner at dawn to Mildenhall, they cut off his head
and mounted it on a pole. It became their banner as they marched back to
Bury, where they placed the head in the public pillory.

Next came news of the escape route of Sir John Cavendish, chief justice
of the realm and chancellor of Cambridge University. His flight was
thwarted at the ferry at Brandon, near Mildenhall, when a woman cut loose
and pushed off the only available boat before Cavendish could get to it. He
was seized and beheaded on the spot and his head sent back to Bury to
join the head of the prior, already in the pillory. The mob found ghoulish
amusement inputting Cavendish’s lips to the prior’s ear as if in confession,
and pushing their lips together to Kkiss.

Wrawe stayed a week in Bury, forcing the monks to give up records and
taking their silver and jewels as bond for a charter of freedom drawn up
for the town. During that week he also sent out messengers and envoys to
spread the rebellion, who in some cases demanded gold and silver as
ransom to save private and church property from destruction. In addition, he
dispatched a force of about five hundred men to take nearby Nottingham
Castle. Although it was well fortified with high walls and a series of
drawbridged moats, there appears to have been no resistance to the rebels,
who looted the castle of its portable valuables.

To the north of Suffolk, in the county of Norfolk, the principal leader was
Geoffrey Litster, not a “peasant” but a prosperous wool dyer. His second-in-
command was Sir Roger Bacon of Baconthorpe.

Their first objective was the capture of Norwich, where Litster made the
castle his headquarters. Several houses of prominent citizens were sacked
and a justice of the peace named Reginald Eccles was dragged to the
public pillory, where he was stabbed in the stomach and then beheaded. Sir
Roger Bacon took a contingent out of Norwich to the port town of Great
Yarmouth, which had angered its neighbors with a charter that required all
living within seven miles of Great Yarmouth to do all of their trading in



the town, regardless of the opportunities to buy for less or sell at a higher
price elsewhere. This must have been a very specific target, because Bacon
did not burn the charter. Instead, he tore it in two and sent one half to
Litster and one half to Wrawe.

To the west, a band of rebels attacked the property of the Hospitallers at
the market town of Watton. From the preceptor they extracted a written
forgiveness of all debts to the order, plus a promise of a subsequent money
payment in compensation for past transgressions.

While all this was happening, messengers came into Cambridgeshire from
London and from John Wrawe in Suffolk, both reporting high levels of
success and urging the locals to rise. On June 14 the first rebel attack in
Cambridgeshire singled out a manor of the Knights Hospitaller at
Chippenham. The next day the revolt exploded at a dozen different places
throughout the county. Men rode through the county announcing that
serfdom had ended. One man, Adam Clymme, ordered that no man, whether
bound or free, should obey any lord or perform any services for him, upon
pain of beheading, unless otherwise ordered by the Great Society (magna
societas). All-out rage was directed at tax collectors, justices of the peace,
and religious landowners. Attacks were made on the religious orders at
Icklington, Ely, and Thorney, and on the Hospitallers’ manor at Duxford.

On Saturday, June 15, the day Wat Tyler was struck down in London,
certain prominent citizens of the city of Cambridge, burgesses and bailiffs
among them, rode out with the full approval of their mayor to meet the
rebels and plan their common attack on the University. They met the rebels
in two groups, the first about fifteen miles from the city, attacking the
Knights Hospitallers’ manor at Shingay, and the other a couple of miles
farther on, destroying the house of Thomas Haseldon, controller to the duke
of Lancaster.

The combined forces returned to the city, where a signal for the rising of
the town was given by tolling the bells of Great St. Mary’s Church. The
first religious target was the University, where the mob went to the house
of the chancellor, Sir John Cavendish. They had not yet learned of his
execution by the rebels at Bury St. Edmunds, so upon finding him not at
home they smashed the furniture and anything else breakable.



Next on the list was wealthy Corpus Christi College, to which as many as
one out of six townspeople paid rent. Everyone had vacated the college
premises in fear of the rebels, who gave themselves over to an evening
frenzy of smashing, burning, and stealing.

The next day was Sunday, and some churches tried to have business as
usual. A mob broke into Great St. Mary’s Church while mass was in
progress and carried off records and anything they could find in the way of
jewels and silver. They broke into the House of the Carmelites (on the site
later occupied by Queen's College) and carried off records and books, which
they burned in the marketplace.

A group of about a thousand rebels left the city to attack the priory at
nearby Barnwell. There they pulled down walls and vandalized the
buildings. Giving vent to specific grievances, they chopped down trees that
they had been forbidden to use for firewood or lumber and drained ponds
in which they were not allowed to fish.

The rising in Yorkshire requires special consideration, not only because it
took place so far from London, but because of the primary involvement of
craftsmen and others of the towns. The absence of any material participation
of the rural population has even led some historians to the conclusion that
the rising in Yorkshire was not really part of the Peasants’ Rebellion, even
though it occurred at the same time. If there were no peasants, how could
it have been part of a peasant rebellion? The truth is that the major
impacts of the revolt had come from substantial cooperation between rural
and town dwellers, as we have seen at Cambridge, Bury St. Edmunds, St.
Albans, and nowhere more than in London itself. That being the case, it
appears foolish to say that events involving farmers only were part of the
rebellion, but events involving townspeople only were not. Certainly there
was communication with the other rebels, and, even more certainly, a high
degree of organization in the risings at York, Scarborough, and Beverly.

These three Yorkshire towns are situated like points of an equilateral
triangle about forty to fifty miles apart, a great traveling distance in those
times. Scarborough is on the sea, and was reputed to be the only safe
harbor between the Humber and the Tyne. Beverly, due south of



Scarborough, boasted a thriving industry in woolen yarns and textiles. York,
to the west, laterally about midway between Scarborough and Beverly, was
the largest city in the north and the second largest city in England.

On June 22, 1381, one week after the death of Wat Tyler, royal letters
patent were sent to just five towns in the north. These letters called for
public mourning for the deaths of Archbishop Sudbury, Sir Robert Hales,
and Chief Justice Sir John Cavendish. More important, the letters decreed
that the local authorities were to permit no illegal assemblies whatsoever.
Three of the five letters went to York, Scarborough, and Beverly. The royal
court’s fears were totally justified, but the letters arrived too late to prompt
any preventive measures—the riots had begun five days before they were
written. By Monday, June 17, the rebels in York had news of the revolt in
London that had started just four days earlier on June 13. On that one day
of June 17, 1381, the mob in York attacked the headquarters of the
Dominican order, the friary of the Franciscans, St. Leonard’s Hospital, and
the Chapel of St. George.

A few days later, a former mayor of York named John de Gisburne
appeared at Bootham Bar, one of the gates of York, with an armed party
on horseback. They forced their way in and joined other rebels in the city.
Most interestingly, de Gisburne’s men were wearing a “livery” (a uniform
item of decoration or clothing common to a group). In this case, it appears
to have been a white woolen hood. Similar livery showed up in Beverly
and Scarborough, where the records have left us a better description. The
livery there was described as a white capuchon with a red liripipe. The
capuchon was a common item of medieval clothing, a hood attached to
enough cloth to cover the shoulders like a shawl. The point at the back of
the hood was often drawn out to a long exaggerated taper, much as the
toes of shoes were exaggerated. This long point was the liripipe, which
could also end in a tasseled decoration. The livery, then, was a white hood
with a red tail or tassel.

It would take about six square feet of woolen cloth to make one hooded
shawl. In all three cities we are told that about fifteen hundred of these
liveries were used by the rebels. That would require about one thousand
square yards of white woolen cloth, plus the decorative red tails. Such



material involved a great deal of cost and a great deal of work, more work
than could have been executed in a few days in total secrecy. John de
Gisburne had brought a supply of liveries with him from outside York to
distribute to the rebels in the city, and most likely they came from Beverly,
where the principal industry was the manufacture of woolen textile products.
We have no idea how they got to Scarborough, where over five hundred
men were reported to be wearing them. The presence of this common
uniform not only speaks to preparation, but to the involvement of all three
towns in some kind of common effort.

Common to all three towns, too, was the swearing of oaths of the “all for
one and one for all” type used to seal a fraternal bond.

Another distinctive feature of the Yorkshire risings is the principal target of
the violence. Although church property was attacked, the antireligious
activities were a sideshow to the attacks on the ruling families, the wealthy
merchants who comprised oligarchies in each town to the exclusion of the
lesser merchants and craftsmen. We read in later indictments that the
Scarborough leaders included William de la Marche, draper; John Cant,
shoemaker; Thomas Symson, basket maker. In Beverly we find rebel leaders
Thomas Whyte, tiler; and Thomas Preston, skinner. In York, Robert de
Harom, mercer, was accused as one passing out “liveries of one color to
various members of their confederacy.”

In his very authoritative Oriental Despotism, Karl A. Wittfogel wrote: “The
rise of private property and enterprise in handicraft and commerce created
conditions that resulted in social conflicts, of many kinds, among urban
commoners. In medieval Europe such conflicts were fought out with great
vigor. Not infrequently the social movements assumed the proportions of a
mass (and class) struggle which in some towns compelled the merchants to
share political leadership with the artisans.”

Mr. Wittfogel would have understood exactly what the rebels of York,
Beverly, and Scarborough were about. And if the concept of a ruling
oligarchy of certain families is a confusing one, one might shed light on it
by studying the power structure of county government today in much of the
American Southeast.



Although there were dozens of other incidents in England, we shall look at
just one more, the revolt against the Benedictines of St. Albans, the largest
landowners in Hertfordshire.

Back on June 14, the day the rebels broke into the Tower of London, men
arrived at St. Albans saying that they had been commanded to collect all of
the able-bodied men of St. Albans and Barnet. These men were to arm
themselves with any available weapons and follow the messengers to
London, and they were quickly assembled because the abbot gave his
approval as a means to divert the mob away from his own domains. As the
men of St. Albans approached London, they came upon Jack Strawe and
his band destroying the Hospitaller manor at Highbury. They enthusiastically
joined in the fun and then followed Strawe back to London. In the City
their leaders met with Wat Tyler to discuss their desire to take the rebellion
home to St. Albans. He instructed them as to the manner in which they
should seek their freedom from the abbey. They swore to obey his
commands explicitly, and Tyler in turn told them that if they had any
trouble with the abbot, the prior, or the monks, he would march on St.
Albans with twenty thousand men to “shave their beards” (cut off their
heads).

The Benedictines of St. Albans had held autocratic sway over the town
and the countryside for over two hundred years. They were well known for
scrupulously guarding every prerogative of the abbey and for zealously
collecting every fee and every service due them under the ancient manorial
contracts. They could not be expected to voluntarily yield a single point of
freedom from manorial obligation to town or tenants, especially under their
current abbot, Thomas de la Mare.

The St. Albans mob returned from London to great rejoicing, as they
spread the word that the king had freed all serfs and villeins. Messengers
went out in all directions, issuing orders from the rebel leader, William
Grindcobbe, that all men must arm themselves and gather the next day,
Saturday, June 15. Those who refused would suffer death and the
destruction of their houses.

On the Saturday, a mob of several thousand men assembled and were
administered an oath to be faithful and true to their brothers-in-arms.



Marching to the abbey, they demanded and gained entrance. Next they
demanded the release of all the men being held in the church prison. In
freeing the prisoners, they agreed that one was guilty and not worthy of
freedom, so they took him out to the mob in front of the abbey gates,
where he was beheaded.

About 9:00 A.M. a rider galloped up to the rebels. He was Richard of
Wallingford, a substantial tenant farmer on abbey land. He had stayed
behind in London to get a letter from the king that would reestablish
ancient peasant claims relating to rights of grazing, hunting, fishing, and
other freedoms.

Armed with the king’s letter, written just that morning, the leaders
demanded to meet with the abbott. Reading their letter, the abbott responded
that the rights spoken of were very ancient and had been terminated
generations ago. He shrewdly maneuvered the leaders into a negotiating
posture, while outside the impatient rebels broke fences and gates, tore
down walls, and generally vandalized the monastic property. They drained
the fish ponds and hung a dead rabbit on a pole as a banner to proclaim
the end of the strict game laws. Hours went by in debate, until word
arrived of the death of Wat Tyler. The attitude of the rebels changed
instantly, as did that of the abbot. He pressed his advantage, and with the
sure knowledge that Tyler’s support column would not be coming, while the
royal troops most assuredly would, the rebels caved in, even agreeing to put
up two hundred pounds to compensate for damaged property.

The rebels were right. The royal troops were on the way, accompanied by
a new chief justice, Robert Tresilian. The new chief justice was out for
blood. The announcement came that all writs issued by the king to the
rebels were null and void. On June 18 royal letters went out charging all
sheriffs to put down the rebels in their districts and charging all knights
and nobles to assist in the effort. The government’s numbness and shock
having now apparently worn off, the counter-rebel forces, far better armed
for battle than their adversaries, set about the task of dispersing the rebels
and arresting their leaders. Now was the time for judicial vengeance.



CHAPTER 3
“WHETHER JUSTLY
OR OUT OF HATE”

(44
The time came for the King to punish the delinquents,” wrote the

monk Henry Knighton. “Lord Robert Tresilian, justice, [who had been
appointed to replace the murdered chief justice, Sir John Cavendish] was
therefore sent by the King’s command to investigate and punish those who
had risen against the peace. He was active everywhere, and spared no one,
causing a great slaughter. And because the malefactors had attacked and put
to death all the justices they could find, including John de Cavendish, and
had spared the lives of none of the lawyers of the realm whom they could
apprehend, so Tresilian now spared no one but repaid like for like. For
whoever was accused before him on the grounds of rebellion, whether justly
or out of hate, immediately suffered the sentence of death. He condemned
(according to their crimes) some to beheading, some to hanging, some to
drawing through the cities and then hanging in four parts of the cities and
some to disembowelling, followed by the burning of their entrails before
them while the victims were still alive, and then their execution and the
division of their corpses into quarters to be hanged in four parts of the
cities.”



The priest John Ball was captured in Coventry and brought to St. Albans
on July 12 to be tried before Chief Justice Tresilian. The trial took place
the next day. Ball made no attempt to recant, expressed no regrets, and
admitted to authorship of the letters that had gone out over his name.
Tresilian drew upon the whole catalog of execution techniques and
sentenced Ball to be hanged, drawn, disemboweled, beheaded, and quartered.

William Grindcobbe, the principal rebel leader at St. Albans, was released
on bail with the provision that he use his influence to calm the people. He
did the opposite. One speech attributed to him was, “Friends, who after so
long an age of repression have at last won yourselves a short breath of
freedom, hold firm while you can, and have no thought of me or what I
may suffer, for if I die for the cause of the liberty we have won, I shall
think myself happy to end my life as a martyr.” Which is exactly what he
did, as he was summarily recaptured and executed.

Men of St. Albans whose bodies had been left intact, including
Grindcobbe, were taken down from the gallows and buried by their friends.
A couple of weeks later an angry order came from the king’s court,
demanding that the bodies be dug up and hanged on public display until
they rotted apart.

Off in Norwich, the rebel leader Geoffrey Litster learned of the death of
Wat Tyler and the collapse of the revolt in London. In response, he decided
to send a delegation to the king, requesting a charter of manumission and
pardon for all Norfolk. The mission was ostensibly headed by two hostage
knights, Sir William de Morley and Sir John de Brewe, but with them went
three of Litster’s closest followers, to make certain that the two knights
followed Litster’s orders. As an extra incentive for the king to look with
favor upon their requests, the mission leaders took with them as a royal gift
all of the money that they had collected as fines on the citizens of
Norwich. On the way, near the town of Newmarket, the delegation had the
great misfortune to cross the path of the warlike Lord Henry le Despenser,
bishop of Norwich. The young Bishop le Despenser had been at his manor
of Burleigh, near Stamford, when he got word of the uprisings in Norfolk.
He decided to return to his diocese of Norwich, taking with him eight
mounted knights and a small company of archers. As evidence of some



military background, he wore a metal helmet, a hauberk, and a fighting
sword. He recruited from the local gentry, adding to his force as he
advanced. At Peterborough the rebels had demanded charters and writs of
manumission and were just starting to ransack the monastery when le
Despenser hit them with a surprise attack. He ordered a number of rebels
killed on the spot and the rest imprisoned. At Ramsey in Huntingdonshire,
the bishop’s force easily defeated a small group of rebels at the monastery.
They were taken prisoner and turned over to the abbot as the bishop
pressed on to Cambridge. By now his group had grown to a small army,
including many experienced military men, and the Cambridge rebels were
quickly brought under control. Unlike the secular reprisals by law, the
bishop acted as accuser, judge, and jury. He designated the rebels to be
executed and those to be imprisoned.

Leaving Cambridge, le Despenser continued toward his own diocese at
Norwich. It was on that leg of his journey that he met the mission to the
king that had been dispatched by the rebel leader Geoffrey Litster. The two
hostage knights told him of their forced mission under the control of the
three rebel leaders, two of whom were in the camp, while the third had
gone off to forage for their supper. The bishop ordered the immediate
beheading of the two rebel leaders present and sent a detachment to find
the third. Once the three heads were mounted on the pillory in nearby
Newmarket, le Despenser moved on, his army steadily increasing in size as
it was joined by now-eager recruits.

At Norwich the bishop found that Litster had flown at his approach. Le
Despenser went after him and Litster’s band made a stand near North
Walsham. They were easily overwhelmed by the bishop’s army, and among
the prisoners taken was Geoffrey Litster himself. The bishop immediately
ordered that he be executed by hanging, drawing, and beheading, then
personally heard Litster’s confession and granted absolution. The bishop then
gained the accolades of his fellow ecclesiastics for his mercy and piety as
he walked beside the prisoner being dragged by his feet to the gallows,
holding up the rebel leader’s head so that it wouldn’t hit the rocks in the
road. (Litster himself, in view of what was about to be done to him, might



have considered it more merciful to be allowed to be knocked unconscious
by the rocks.)

The rebellion in Norfolk had been put down swiftly and totally, albeit
ruthlessly, by the efforts of one angry man, a service that would seem to
merit the gratitude of the king’s court even though the law of the land had
been ignored for a few days. To the contrary, someone (because the king
was still not of age) arranged that Bishop le Despenser be impeached two
years later, in 1383, for his conduct in putting down the rebellion in
Norfolk in contravention of the law.

On July 16 writs went out calling for a parliament to convene on
September 16, but the meeting was postponed until November 4, 1381. If
the Parliament of 1376 deserves to be remembered as the “Good
Parliament,” the 1381 session could well be memorialized as the “I-Told-
You-So Parliament.”

The 1376 Parliament had cited corruption in the king’s court, bribery,
diversion of tax monies, and inept management. The members had warned
the royal council that these things must be corrected. They had impeached
the London merchant and financier Richard Lyons on a variety of charges
of corruption, only to have the sentence of life imprisonment set aside. All
of their fears, advice, and actions had been ignored, but now the rebellion
had proven their points.

It can only have been with a deep feeling of smug satisfaction that the
members of the November 1381 Parliament listened to the charge given to
them by the king and his council, as read to them by the speaker, Sir
Hugh Seagrave:

“Our lord the King, here present, whom God save, has commanded me to
make the following declaration to you. First our lord the King, desiring above all
that the liberty of Holy Church should be entirely preserved without blemish, and
that the estate, peace and good government of his kingdom should be maintained
and preserved as best it was in the time of any of his noble progenitors, the
kings of England, wills that if any default can be found anywhere, this should be
amended by the advice of the prelates and lords in this parliament.” (We can hear
a slouched backbencher muttering under his breath, “If you’d kept your bloody
ear-holes open five years ago, you’d know the answers already.”)



The parliamentary roll leaves no doubt as to where that parliament laid the
blame for the revolt (the word commons refers to the common people, not
to a House of Parliament that did not yet exist):

“If the government of the realm was not shortly to be amended, the very
kingdom itself would be completely lost and destroyed for all time and, as a
result, the lord our King and all the lords and commons, which God, in his
mercy, forfend. For it is true that there are many faults in said government, about
the King’s person, and in his household and because of the outrageous number of
servants in the latter, as well as in the King’s courts, that is to say in the
Chancery, King’s Bench, Common Bench and the Exchequer. And there are
grievous oppressions throughout the country because of the outrageous multitude
of embracers of quarrels and maintainers, who act like kings in the country, so
that justice and law are scarce administered to anybody. And the poor commons
are from time to time despoiled and destroyed in these ways, both by the
purveyors of the said royal household and others who pay nothing to the
commons for the victuals and carriage taken from them, and by the subsidies and
tallages [literally, ‘“cuts,” taxes] levied upon them to their great distress, and by
other grievous and outrageous oppressions done to them by various servants of
our lord the King and other lords of the realm—and especially by the said
maintainers. For these reasons the said commons are brought to great
wretchedness and misery, more than they ever were before.”

Having had its say on the subjects of burdensome taxes and of corruption
in the royal court and the legal system, Parliament next turned to the
national defense, a major reason given for that taxation:

“One might add that although great treasure is continually granted and levied
from the commons for the defense of the realm, they are nevertheless no better
defended and succoured against the King’s enemies, as far as they know. For,
from year to year, the said enemies burn, rob and pillage by land and sea with
their barges, galleys and other vessels; for which no remedy has been, nor is yet,
provided. Which mischiefs the said poor commons, who once used to live in all
honour and prosperity, can no longer endure in any way.”



All of which, in the self-serving opinion of Parliament, was the clear-cut
cause of the rebellion: “And to speak the truth, the said outrages as well as
others which have lately been done to the poor commons, more generally
than ever before, made the said poor commons feel so hardly oppressed that
they caused the said mean commons to rise and commit the mischief they
did in the said riot.” Then a warning to the king and his council: “And
greater mischiefs are to be feared if good and proper remedy is not
provided in time for the above mentioned outrageous oppression and
mischiefs.”

Parliament had a suggested solution, of course, which reflected its principal
objective over the past years: a stronger voice in the central government
and greater influence on the selection of men to serve in that government:

“It suggested that the commons can be restored to quiet and peace by removing
whenever they are known evil officers and counsellors and putting better and
more virtuous and more sufficient ones in their place, as well as removing all the
evil circumstances from which the late disturbance and the other mischiefs befell
the realm, as said above. Otherwise, all men think that this realm cannot survive
for long without greater mischief than has ever befallen it before, which Cod
forbid.”

This time Parliament was listened to, and changes were made in key
positions. The poll tax was abandoned, and there were no more attempts to
create ingenious new taxes. We can find no record of an attack on the
person or property of a rank-and-file member of Parliament; thus it would
appear that to that group, at least, the rebellion was a rip-roaring success. It
got what it had wanted. In fact, it is difficult to dismiss the temptation to
conclude that the shadowy Great Society inciting and directing facets of the
revo